I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Petitioner Jeffrey Haley ("Haley") was the plaintiff/appellant 

below. Haley asks this Court to review the Court of Appeals' decision 

terminating review designated in Part III below. 

II. COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION 

Haley seeks review of the October 27, 2014, Court of Appeals' 

decision in Haley v. Pugh, No. 70649-7-1 ("Decision"). A copy of the 

Decision is attached hereto as Appendix A. The Decision is unpublished. 

Haley timely filed a Motion for Reconsideration, which was denied on 

November 19, 2014. A copy ofthe Order denying the reconsideration 

motion is attached hereto as Appendix B. 

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Does the Statute of Frauds, Chapter 64.04 RCW, require a written 
document to enforce against a subsequent purchaser a purported 
abandonment of a recorded easement established by dedication? 

2. Can the oral statements of a prior owner of real property made 
years after the property was transferred by warranty deed legally 
divest and/or extinguish recorded rights in the real property held by 
the current owner? 

3. On a motion for summary judgment, are there no triable issues of 
fact when statements in a deposition offered by the moving party 
are contradicted by other statements in the same deposition such 
that the testimony is internally inconsistent, equivocal, vague, 
and/or contradictory? 
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IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Haley and Pugh are owners of near-adjacent residential parcels of 

land on the east side of Mercer Island. 1 Pugh owns a lake front parcel, 

"Lot D. " 2 To the south and west of Lot D is lake front Lot C. 3 To the west 

of Lots C and Dis "Lot B," which is owned by Haley. 4 Bordering Lots B, 

C and D on the north is a long and narrow lot that is used for sewer and 

waterfront access for many upland lots and easements for Lots B, C, and 

D, called "Tract A." Pugh also owns "Tract A."5 The respective locations 

of these Lots are depicted as follows: 

(.::;\ 
~ 

1 Decision, at 1-2. 
2 /d. 
3 /d. 
4 /d. 
5 /d. 

. pu'" 
TRACT. "A" 

DAWN TERRACE 

I :ascment 
Area 

127. 

... 
~--------------------~~-- ~ 

© 
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In 1979, an easement was granted and recorded ("Declaration of 

Easement") in favor of Lot B over a 10 by 140 foot portion of"Tract A," 

immediately north of Lot B ("Easement Area"). 6 This Declaration of 

Easement granted access for utilities, ingress and egress rights for vehicles 

and pedestrians, as well as vehicular parking rights. 7 

In 2001, Pugh purchased both Lot D and Tract A. Starting 

thereafter and concluding in 2004, Pugh landscaped portions of Lot D and 

Tract A which significantly altered the Easement Area resulting in an open 

waterway and a garden of low bushes that adjoins Lot B. 8 

At the time of Pugh's landscaping, Kathleen A. Hume ("Hume") 

owned Lot B. Although Pugh's improvements significantly altered the 

Easement Area, Hume did not enter into a written contract wherein she 

abandoned or otherwise diminished any aspect of Lot B' s easement 

rights. 9 No document exists which states or otherwise suggests that Hume 

abandoned or diminished any aspect of Lot B's easement rights. There is 

no physical evidence that Hume did anything affirmative or intentional to 

show that Hume abandoned or otherwise diminished any aspect of Lot B's 

easement rights. 

6 !d. at 2. 
7 !d. 
8 Jd. 
9 CP 105,atp.39:10-17. 
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In May 2005, Haley bought Lot B from Hume via Statutory 

Warranty Deed. 10 Within this deed, Hume conveyed all of her interest in 

Lot B and made no reservation or other qualification that she had 

abandoned any aspect of her easement rights. CP 105-151. Furthermore, 

the deed also expressly incorporated all "easements contained in short 

plat" recorded March 4, 1980. !d. The short plat drawing clearly 

illustrates the 10 feet Easement Area and specifies the recording number 

of the Declaration of Easement. 

The improvements made by Pugh, while substantial, did not 

preclude all use of the Easement Area for pedestrian purposes or parking 

cars. Indeed, Hume testified that she had the right to enter the Easement 

Area to service any ofthe landscaping. 11 Without modifying the ground, 

it would have been possible to park one vehicle in the easement area but 

this would have required removing some low bushes. 12 

In January 2012, Haley wrote to Pugh that he wished to make 

surface improvements within the Easement Area to improve his pedestrian 

uses and parking pursuant to the terms ofthe Declaration ofEasement. 13 

10 Decision, at 2. 
II CP 151, p. 28:5-13. 
12 Haley Second Declaration, p.9 ~ 30, CP 51. 
13 /d at p 3. 
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However, Pugh refused on the ground that the easement rights had been 

abandoned by Hume. 14 

Because of this and other reasons, Haley filed a lawsuit against 

Pugh in Superior Court in July 2012. Pugh counterclaimed to quiet title in 

the easement area, alleging that it had been abandoned by Hume, 

presenting a fresh declaration by Hume to that effect. The trial court 

granted a motion for summary judgment brought by Pugh. The court 

ruled orally that Hume abandoned all but pedestrian and utility uses of the 

Easement Area. 15 However, when Pugh presented an order for signature, 

it stated that all uses other than utilities, sewage and drainage were 

abandoned, including pedestrian uses, and the trial court signed the order. 

V. ARGUMENT 

A. The Court of Appeals' Decision, which allows the owner of 
property to abandon a recorded appurtenant easement without 
any written document and then sell the property with the 
recorded easement apparently intact, conflicts with the Statute 
of Frauds, Chapter 64.04 RCW, and threatens to undermine 
the foundational policy of the statute. 

The Statute of Frauds is a longstanding protection of the public 

against fraud and mistakes in the important process of buying and selling 

real estate. See Maier v. Giske, 154 Wn. App. 6, 15 {20 1 0). Despite the 

14 Jd 
15 The trial court stated in its oral ruling that, although parts of the easement were 
abandoned, pedestrian access was still viable given that the easement holder "could still 
walk across it." December 13, 2012 Audio record 8:34:40. 
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statute's longevity, this Court has never addressed the situation currently 

before it-Can a prior owner of real property successfully claim to have 

abandoned specific and recorded easements affecting the property years 

after selling the property, despite having no written document 

memorializing the abandonment? 

This issue is of substantial public interest as it calls into question 

the reliability and uniformity of real property transfers. This Court should 

decide whether the public protection in the Statute of Frauds can be 

bypassed by a simple oral statement of a seller, made seven years after 

selling the property, claiming to have abandoned recorded property 

interests prior to sale of the property, without any contemporaneous 

writing or any recording whatsoever. 

Turning to the Statute of Frauds itself, RCW 64.04.010 requires 

that "[ e ]very conveyance of real estate, or interest therein, and every 

contract creating or evidencing any encumbrance upon real estate, shall be 

by deed." The next section within the Statute of Frauds states that 

"[e]very deed shall be in writing, signed by the party bound thereby, and 

acknowledged by the party before some person authorized by this act to 

take acknowledgements of deeds." RCW 64.04.010. In short, any 

conveyance of a real estate interest must be in writing. 

- 6-



Pertaining to easements, case law is clear that they are "interests in 

land ... [and therefore] must comply with the statute of frauds." Rainier 

View Court Homeowners Ass'n, Inc. v. Zenker, 157 Wn. App. 710,719 

(20 1 0). In other words, to be enforceable, all easements must be in 

writing as they signify a "conveyance" of a real estate interest. See id. 

Although never directly decided by Washington Courts, the re-conveyance 

of an easement right-i.e. the dominant estate conveying back the 

easement rights to the servient estate so as to extinguish it-must be in 

writing as well. 

In addition to the written requirement, "Washington courts have 

long held that to comply with the statute of frauds, a deed conveying land 

must describe the land conveyed in sufficient detail that it can be located 

without recourse to oral testimony." Maier, 154 Wn. App. at 15 

(citation omitted) (emphasis added). Failure to provide sufficient written 

detail describing the conveyance of land, or the scope of the easement, 

renders any agreement null and void. 16 Howell v. Inland Empire Paper 

Co., 28 Wn. App. 494, 495 ( 1981) . Overall, the strict requirements of the 

Statute of Frauds are specifically designed to "prevent fraud arising 

16 Washington's Statute of Frauds has been labeled as "the strictest in the nation .. .ln most 
states an incomplete description or street address is sufficient, and parol evidence may be 
received to locate the land. Not so in Washington." Maier, 154 Wn. App. at 15 (quoting 
18 WILLIAM B. STOEBUCK & JOHN W. WEAVER, WASHINGTON PRACTICE: REAL ESTATE: 

TRANSACTIONS§ 16.3, at 225 (2d ed. 2004 ). 
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from inherently uncertain oral agreements." Maier, 154 Wn. App. at 

15 (emphasis added). 

In 1991, the legislature further bolstered the Statute of Frauds by 

passing an amendment clarifying that easements created by dedication can 

only be extinguished with a written deed or other method specified in the 

dedication document: 

Easements established by a dedication are property rights that 
cannot be extinguished or altered without the approval of the 
easement owner or owners, unless the plat or other document 
creating the dedicated easement provides for an alternative method 
or methods to extinguish or alter the easement. 

RCW 64.04.175. However, instead of reading this provision to strengthen 

the Statute of Frauds, the Court of Appeals read it completely opposite, 

holding that dedicated easements could simply be extinguished by 

showing oral consent of the easement holder. Decision, at 4-6. 

Contrary to the Court of Appeals interpretation, RCW 64.04.175 

should be read in pari materia with other sections of the statute of 

frauds. 17 Specifically, any conveyance of an interest in real property must 

be in writing. RCW 64.04.010, .020. 

17 "In ascertaining legislative purpose, statutes which stand in pari materia are to be read 
together as constituting a unified whole, to the end that a harmonious, total statutory 
scheme evolves which maintains the integrity of the respective statutes." State v. Wright, 
84 Wn. 2d 645, 650 (1974). 
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Thus, when properly construed together with entirety of the Statute 

of Frauds, RCW 64.04.175, requires that abandonment or extinguishment 

of an easement created by dedication must be in writing, evidencing the 

consent of the easement holder or by operation of the method specified in 

the written dedication document. This addition to the Statute of Frauds 

renders written records of easements created by dedication more reliable 

for both the public and potential buyers, and at the same time puts all on 

notice as to whether a particular property interest, like an easement, exists 

or not. 

Ultimately, the interpretation ofRCW 64.04.175 is a question of 

first impression. Except for the Decision by the Court of Appeals below, 

no Washington court opinions have yet construed this new addition to the 

Statute of Frauds, RCW 64.04.175. None ofthe cases considering 

abandonment of an easement decided since 1991 have involved an 

easement created by dedication in a recorded plat. 

In this case, the Court of Appeals' Decision directly conflicts with 

Washington's Statute of Frauds and, if left unchanged, threatens to 

derogate the statute's overall purpose and effect. The Court of Appeals 

implicitly recognized that the prior owner, Hume, neither wrote, nor 

signed, nor recorded, any written document abandoning the Declaration of 

Easement. See Decision, at 5. And yet, the Court of Appeals ultimately 
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ruled that "Hume's declaration [made seven years after selling the 

property] is sufficient to show" that she effectively extinguished the 

Declaration of Easement, citing no further evidence. !d. at 5-6. This 

directly conflicts with RCW 64.04.175 which requires that, to be 

enforceable against a subsequent purchaser, abandonment or 

extinguishment of an easement created by dedication must be by written 

deed or other method specified in the dedication document. See id. 

The Court of Appeals attempted to deal with the critical portion of 

the Statute of Frauds, by concluding that, to be enforceable against a 

subsequent purchaser, the establishment of an easement needs to be in 

writing, but the abandonment of an easement does not. Decision, at 5. 

However, this conclusion holds no water when considering the language 

and the purposes of the statute as discussed above. By relying solely on 

Hume's testimony given seven years after she sold the property to support 

terminating an interest in land, the Court of Appeals' Decision undermines 

the primary purpose of the Statute of Frauds-i.e., to "prevent fraud 

arising from inherently uncertain oral agreements." Maier, 154 Wn. App. 

at 15 (emphasis added). 

The evidence presented by Pugh, all of which was generated seven 

years after Hume sold the property via warranty deed referencing the 

Declaration of Easement, is nowhere near sufficient to support a ruling 
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that all surface use rights were intentionally abandoned by Hume before 

she sold the property. The Statute of Frauds requires the conclusion that 

the prior owner, Hume, transferred all recorded rights to her property, 

including the easement, pursuant to the warranty deed. To rule otherwise, 

as the Court of Appeals has done, would instantly create uncertainty for 

real estate transfers. 

The fundamental purpose of the Statute of Frauds is protecting the 

public at large by ensuring certainty in transferring property interests. 

Whether the Statute of Frauds can be so easily evaded is the question 

deserving of this Court's review. 

B. Aside from the violation of the Statute of Frauds, this case 
involves the standard for issuing summary judgment where 
evidence offered as proof of the absence of triable issues of fact 
was itself equivocal, contradictory, and unclear. 

The summary judgment process is a well-established process that 

aids court in the expeditious resolution of disputes when there is no 

dispute of material facts. At the same time, the grant of summary 

judgment deprives the non-moving party of an opportunity for trial. It is 

because of this fact that the reviewing court on appeal considers and 

construes all facts in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. 

Reynolds v. Farmers Ins. Co. of Washington, 90 Wn. App. 880, 884 

(1998). Here, whether equivocal, contradictory and unclear deposition 
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testimony meets the required standards of summary judgment is an issue 

of substantial public importance to courts, counsel, litigants and the public 

in general in knowing that judicial procedures are fairly administered. 

Upon review ofHume's Declaration and subsequent deposition, 

the Court of Appeals determined that Hume's testimony about her intent 

to abandon easement rights was "uncontroverted," presumably because 

Petitioner Haley could provide no declaration that her intent was 

otherwise. Decision, at 5. Accordingly, the Court of Appeals concluded 

that her statements in this case conclusively demonstrated that there was 

"no genuine issue of material fact as to Hume's intent to abandon the 

easement." ld. 

However, Hume's testimony is internally contradictory, equivocal, 

and unclear concerning her purported "intent" to abandon her various 

easement rights. Specifically, Hume's testimony reflects that (1) she did 

not know of the existence or the scope of her easement rights which she 

did not affirmatively or otherwise explicitly abandon; and (2) she sold all 

rights in Lot B with a warranty deed that included a specific reference to 

the Declaration of Easement, deriving a direct monetary benefit from 

transferring those rights. These facts given in direct testimony from Hume 

call into question whether or not she had the requisite "intent" to abandon 

each of her easement rights. 
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1. The summary judgment moving party's evidence, Home's 
declaration, was unclear and contradictory 

The law on the abandonment of an easement is well established: 

there must be both (1) nonuse ofthe easement and (2) an "express or 

implied intention of abandonment." Heg v. Alldredge, 157 Wn. 2d 154, 

161 (2006) . Furthermore, acts evidencing abandonment must be 

"unequivocal and decisive and inconsistent with the continued existence 

of the easement." !d. at 161 (emphasis added). In stark contrast to these 

requirements, Hume's testimony is contradictory, equivocal, and 

inconsistent. 

As stated above, the Court of Appeals accepted Pugh's argument 

that Hume abandoned all of Lot B' s easement rights, other than for 

utilities, sewage and drainage at the time Tract A was being improved. 

However, this argument is unsupported by Hume's testimony given the 

simple fact that she could not have abandoned an easement that she 

testified to have had no knowledge of. 18 

Hume's statements directly contradict the argument that she had 

the requisite intent to abandon any of the rights within the Declaration of 

18 See CP 105, 17:24-25, 18:1,8-12, 19-12,21:18-25 
(Q: So when the road was being moved and the landscaping was being put in, what 
rights that you had in tract A were you giving up? 
A: I don't know that I had any rights.) 
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Easement. She simply did not know that she had any rights in Tract A to 

abandon in the first place. 

In addition to contradicting Pugh's argument, Hume also 

contradicts herself. In contrast to her statements listed above, Hume states 

later in her deposition the following: 

I chose during my tenure as the owner of that house to extinguish 
that easement, or my right, my possession or rights in that 
easement on purpose because that way I felt that it was important 
to my property value that I have my own driveway, that people 
weren't driving across it. 

CP 151, at 26:2-7 (emphasis added). This seemingly canned answer sets 

forth that Hume, during her "tenure" as lot B's property owner, both knew 

about the Declaration of Easement and affirmatively intended to abandon 

it so that other people would not drive across her driveway. This suggests 

that what she wanted to abandon was rights of others to use the Easement 

Area and she did not understand that she also had rights in the Easement 

Area. 

This petition asks for review of the summary judgment question as 

to whether a nonmoving party can defeat summary judgment by pointing 

to the contradictory statements of the moving parties' primary declarant 

precisely on the subject at issue, here, Hume's intent and scope of intent. 

Did Hume affirmatively or explicitly have the requisite knowledge and 

intent to abandon some of her easement rights? If so, which ones? These 
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questions were not answered in summary judgment record. Accordingly, 

the Court should review whether summary judgment can be granted when 

the moving party's evidence is uncertain or contradictory. 

2. Because Hume sold all her property rights to Lot B via 
statutory warranty deed, which creates a material issue of 
fact as to whether she had the intent to abandon the 
easement. 

As stated within the relevant facts above, Hume conveyed all her 

property rights in Lot B to Haley with a statutory warranty deed which 

included a reference to the recorded Declaration of Easement. Pursuant to 

RCW 64.04.030, this warranty by Hume is a representation that, prior to 

the sale, she did not transfer to someone else or otherwise knowingly or 

intentionally impair the property rights that she conveyed by deed to 

Haley. 19 This warranty conflicts and is inconsistent with her testimony 

given seven years later. 

Hume also testified that, prior to closing of the sale, she neither 

informed Haley of her purported abandonment of some of her easement 

rights nor recorded any document formally establishing her alleged 

abandonment. CP 151, 39:10-17. Thus, when Haley purchased Lot B and 

19 The relevant portion ofRCW 64.04.030 states: "Every deed in substance in the above 
form, when otherwise duly executed, shall be deemed and held a conveyance in fee 
simple to the grantee, his or her heirs and assigns, with covenants on the part of the 
grantor: ( 1) That at the time of the making and delivery of such deed he or she was 
lawfully seized of an indefeasible estate in fee simple, in and to the premises therein 
described, and had good right and full power to convey the same ... " 
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was given a statutory warranty deed, the law presumes that all recorded 

rights to Lot B transferred to him, including rights specified by the 

Declaration of Easement. 

The fact that Hume received monetary consideration for all her 

rights to Lot B significantly undercuts any conclusion that she intended to 

abandon some of the rights that she sold to Haley by warranty deed. As 

stated by the Supreme Court in Heg v. Allredge: 

[A]n intention to abandon property for which one has paid value 
will not be presumed." An easement appurtenant which runs with 
the land "is not a mere privilege to be enjoyed by the person to 
whom it is granted or by whom it is reserved. It passes by a deed 
of such person to his grantee and follows the land without any 
mention whatever. 

Heg, 157 Wn. 2d at 161(emphasis added). Stated another way, if a 

grantee sells with a statutory warranty deed land that is benefitted by a 

recorded easement, the court presumes that the grantee had no intention to 

abandon the easement prior to the sale. 

This makes logical sense given that the market rate at which 

property is sold is directly linked to the rights that come with the 

property-i.e. property with a pedestrian easement on adjoining property 

generally is worth more than property without such an easement. The 

same is true in this case, as Heg presumes that the transference and 

purchase price of Lot B from Hume to Haley reflected all rights 
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established within the title report-namely the rights to make certain uses 

ofthe Easement Area. 157 Wn.2d at 161. 

The law's presumption of intent by Hume to transfer all the 

easement rights to Haley is called into question by Hume's post-hoc and 

contradictory recollection of her real estate transaction with Haley: 

Q: So other than the right to use the 1 0-foot wide easement to 
access lot C and lot D, do you believe you sold [Haley] all the 
rights that you bought from Frances Wood? 

A: No. 

Q: What other rights did you buy from Frances [W]ood that you 
didn't sell to [Haley]? 

A: None that I know of. I mean, I gave [Haley] everything that I 
had, but we had extinguished the easement long before [Haley] 
came and bought the house. It was extinguished and moved. 

CP 151,24:14-24. Stated another way, Hume testified that she didn't sell 

all rights to Lot B to Haley. However, she follows up by reversing herself 

in stating that she didn't know of any rights she reserved when selling Lot 

B. This contradiction, coupled with her transference of all rights to Lot B 

by warranty deed directly calls into question the claim that Hume had the 

requisite intent to abandon some of her easement rights. 

In the end, Hume's actions and words are conflicting and 

equivocal at best. Instead of establishing clear intent to abandon the 

easement rights to pedestrian uses and to park cars, Hume's testimony 
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actually creates material issues of fact which should have been 

investigated and cleared before any hearing on summary judgment. This 

Court should determine whether such a record is sufficient to support a 

summary judgment order. 

3. The record is unclear and disputed whether Home 
intended to give up all her surface use easement rights, or 
just some of them. 

Assuming, arguendo, that Hume had the requisite knowledge and 

intent to abandon some of her rights in the Easement Area, she 

nevertheless testified that she still retained pedestrian access rights. This 

is consistent with the trial court's oral ruling but inconsistent with the 

written order that was entered which states that all easement rights were 

abandoned save for utilities. CP 81. 

Hume's testimony is very clear that she retained rights to access 

Tract A. Specifically, Hume stated that she retained the right to go into 

the Easement Area to maintain the vegetation planted by Pugh, which she 

participated in selecting and believed was an asset to her property. 20 

Hume's testimony directly contradicts the trial court's written 

order that "all easement rights are terminated and abandoned except for 

easement rights to utility, sewage and drainage to the extent said utilities 

serve plaintiff's property in the easement area." CP 81. Altogether, 

2° CP 151, p. 18:23-25, 19:1-5,27:6-7,28:5-13. 
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Hume's testimony is that she retained rights to access and maintain the 

landscaping within the Easement Area. 

The Court should grant review because summary judgment should 

not be granted where the scope of what was intended to be abandoned is 

unclear. While a valuable tool, summary judgment is a drastic remedy and 

should not be used where the evidence proffered in support is limited and 

is inconsistent with the scope of the order granting summary judgment. 

VI. CONCLUSION 

The primary purpose of the Statute of Frauds is to limit and curtail 

fraud and misrepresentations which can occur in any transaction or 

transfer of property. By requiring certain transfers to be explicit and in 

writing, the Statute of Frauds is meant to eliminate the uncertainties of 

oral agreements for the benefit of the parties and the public in general. 

Unfortunately, the Court of Appeals' Decision threatens to completely 

dismantle this protection by allowing oral testimony to divest recorded 

property rights conveyed via written warranty deed. If the Statute of 

Frauds is to achieve its intended purpose, this Court should grant review 

ofthis case.