RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Jan 14, 2015, 2:23 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK



No. 91131-2

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 70649-7-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

JEFFREY HALEY,

Petitioner,

 $\mathbf{v}_{\boldsymbol{\cdot}}$

JOHN F. PUGH,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Frank R. Siderius WSBA 7759

SIDERIUS LONERGAN & MARTIN, LLP

500 Union Street, Suite 847

Seattle, WA 98101

206/624-2800

franks@sidlon.com

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. The Court of Appeals Decision Does Not "Undermine the Foundational Policy" of RCW Ch. 64.04. The purpose of the statute of frauds, RCW Ch. 64.04, is to prevent fraud arising from inherently uncertain oral agreements. See Maier v. Giske, 154 Wn.App. 6, 15, 223 P.3d 1265 (2010). However, where uncertainty no longer exists as to the oral contract, the reason for application of the statute disappears. Miller v. McCamish, 78 Wn.2d 821, 829, 479 P.2d 919 (1971).

Haley argues that partial abandonment of the subject easement was ineffective because RCW 64.04.010 and .020 require that every "conveyance" of real estate shall be in writing.

As the Court of Appeals duly noted in its opinion (Petitioner's Appendix at p. 5) Haley's argument presupposes that abandonment of an easement is a conveyance. Haley cites RCW 64.04.075 which states that

easements established by a dedication cannot be extinguished "without the approval of the easement owner or owners." There is no requirement for written "approval."

Haley's unsupported interpretation of the statute of frauds ignores case law which recognizes exceptions to the statute of frauds. Even if partial abandonment of an easement is a "conveyance," which it is not, the doctrine of part performance allows proof of conveyance of an easement without a writing. See *Berg v. Ting*, 125 Wn.2d 544, 556, 886 P.2d 564 (1995), citing *Miller v. McCamish*, *supra*.

Part performance removes a contract from the statute of frauds if a party is able to show: (1) delivery and assumption of actual and exclusive possession; (2) payment or tender of consideration; and (3) the making of permanent, substantial and valuable improvements. See *Pardee v. Jolly*, 163 Wn.2d 558, 567, 182 P.3d 967 (2008).

Although the strongest case for part performances is presented where all three part performance elements are present, this court repeatedly has found sufficient part performance where only 2 elements exist. See *Powers* v. *Hastings*, 93 Wn.2d 709, 721, 612 P.2d 371 (1980), citing cases.

The "foundational policy" of the statute of frauds is not undermined where clear evidence of partial abandonment of an easement is uncontroverted. The significant alteration of the easement area was done with full consent and involvement of Haley's predecessor in title who recognized that the easement area would no longer be used for pedestrian or vehicle access. (CP 58-59.) As the Court of Appeals noted, the City of Mercer Island granted the application to "daylight" a stream that had previously routed through underground pipes. The easement area now has an open water course and is densely landscaped with trees, shrubs and boulders. (Court of Appeals Opinion, Petitioner's Appendix at p. 2. See also Exhibit 4, Declaration of Kathleen Hume, CP 70.)

B. Heg v. Alldredge Controls the Outcome of this Case. The testimony of Kathleen Hume (CP 57-70, CP 413-415, CP 425-430) establishes abandonment of the easement by the dominant estate owner. Contrary to the assertions of Haley the evidence is undisputed that Haley's predecessor in interest, and others, used the easement area for ingress and egress. (CP 58.) That activity abruptly ended in 2001 when Haley's predecessor in interest, Kathleen Hume (dominant estate), consented to removal of the paved area on the easement and allowed for alteration of the

easement into a water course. (CP 59.) While Pugh testifies that the area was not "completed" until 2003 or 2004 (CP 14), Kathleen Hume testified that no pedestrian or traffic use of the easement was made after 2001. (See Declaration of Kathleen Hume, ¶9; CP 59.) The change in use of the easement area was evident when Haley purchased his property in 2005. (CP 168-170.)

Heg v. Alldredge, 157 Wn.2d 154, 137 P.3d 9 (2006) supports the abandonment argument. Haley claims there is no evidence of intent to abandon any part of the easement. Yet the testimony of Kathleen Hume offers proof of intent to abandon. Ms. Hume testified that she was "fully aware that the creation of an open stream with landscaping would eliminate any pedestrian or vehicle use of the easement area." She testified that the improvements enhanced her property value. She was aware that the City of Mercer Island approved Pugh's plans. She stated that from and after 2001, she "abandoned any claim of easement rights in Tract A with the exception of easement rights for any underground utilities. . . " See Declaration of Kathleen Hume, ¶¶ 7-10; (CP 59).

The court in *Heg* at p. 161, held that extinguishing an easement through abandonment requires more than mere non-use. The non-use "must

Netherlands Am. Mortgage Bank v. ERy. & Lumber Co., 142 Wash. 204, 210, 252 Pac. 916 (1927). The testimony of Haley's predecessor in interest, Kathleen Hume, clearly establishes an express, unequivocal and decisive abandonment of the easement with respect to pedestrian and vehicular traffic. Her actions in supporting the improvements to the easement area are inconsistent with the continued existence of the easement for those purposes. All of this occurred several years before Haley had any interest in the property. (CP 168-169.) Haley offers no evidence disputing these facts.

C. Haley Failed to Provide Any Controverting Evidence. The Court of Appeals opinion at p. 5-6 correctly concludes that the Declaration of Kathleen Hume was uncontroverted. In fact, Haley presents no evidence controverting the evidence that Hume abandoned the easement rights that Haley attempts to assert.

Haley presents no evidence which specifically denies or rebuts the Hume testimony. As such, a grant of summary judgment is appropriate. *Ashwell Twist Co. v. Burke*, 13 Wn.App. 641, 643, 536 P.2d 686 (1975).

The Hume testimony states the established facts when no controverting affidavits are presented. *Consolidated Elec. Distrib., Inc. v.*

Northwest Homes of Chehalis, 10 Wn.App. 287, 292, 518 P.2d 225 (1973). It would have been extremely difficult for Haley to present any contrary facts when he did not take title to the property until several years after approval and construction of the water course. (CP 62.)

It was incumbent upon Haley to present evidence creating a factual issue. Haley may not rest on mere allegations, but is required to present specific facts showing a genuine issue. *Reed v. Streib*, 65 Wn.2d 700, 707, 399 P.2d 338 (1965).

Unsupported conclusional statements and opinions cannot be considered in a summary judgment motion. *Marks v. Benson*, 62 Wn.App. 178, 180, 813 P.2d 180 (1991). The court grants summary judgment when there is no genuine issue of material fact and all reasonable persons could reach only one conclusion. *Island Air, Inc. v. LaBar*, 18 Wn.App. 129, 136, 566 P.2d 972 (1977).

Haley asserts that Hume's testimony was equivocal and unclear. The record speaks for itself. The Declaration of Kathleen Hume (CP 57) and her deposition testimony (CP 402) set forth clear and unequivocal facts which are not refuted by Haley. Even when equivocal statements are explained in later testimony, an appellate court reviews those statements along with all

evidence to see if there is an issue of fact. State Farm Mut. Auto Ins. v. Treciak, 117 Wn.App. 402, 409, 71 P.3d 703 (2003).

D. The Statutory Warranty Deed from Hume to Haley. In a further attempt to claim Hume's testimony is contradictory and inconsistent, Haley refers to the Statutory Warranty Deed from Hume to Haley. (CP 62-64.) Haley fails to address how the Deed warranted the existence of full easement rights. Any warranty of title issue pursuant to RCW 64.03.030 would be an issue between the grantor and grantee.

Haley maintains at p. 16 of the Petition for Review that sale of property which is benefitted by a recorded easement pursuant to a Statutory Warranty Deed "presumes" that the grantor had "no intention" to abandon the easement. No authority exists or is cited for this proposition.

In fact, grantor Hume had only partially abandoned the subject easement leaving intact rights for utilities and drainage. Her unequivocal testimony is as follows:

A: As a neighborhood, all of us got together, the Oylers, Mr. Pugh, me, and even I think the Koldes. There was a lot of people. You know, this was an open and obvious thing that we chose to do in that neighborhood.

I released my interest in ingress and egress by pedestrians or vehicles because they moved the road. The only rights that I reserved at the time were to

- service the sewer and down spout pipes, and if I wanted to, any of the landscaping.
- Q: What right did you reserve with respect to landscaping within the 10-foot-wide easement of tract A?
- A: To water it.

(CP 402, Hume Deposition Transcript, 28: 5-13, 22-24.)

- E. The Record as a Whole is Clear and Undisputed. The Declaration and deposition testimony of Ms. Hume is clear and undisputed. It is also consistent with the trial court's order. Haley argues that even if Hume had the requisite knowledge and intent to abandon some of her easement rights, she still retained pedestrian access rights. The record does not support this assertion. Hume testified in her deposition as follows:
 - Q: After the road was moved, did you believe you had the right to walk in the new stream?
 - A: You know, that wouldn't occur to me, so I can't answer that question. It's not a thought that would occur to me as to go wade in the stream.
 - Q: So the right to use the road on the 10-foot wide easement to access lot C or lot D is the only right that you believe you had that you gave up when the road was moved?
 - A: Well, I still have, or you still have rights to access any utilities that are in that.
 - Q: I'm asking are there any other rights that you believe you gave up when you agreed to have the road moved?

A: Just vehicular and pedestrian ingress and egress as far as I knew because I would no longer need that, anyway.

(CP 402, Hume Deposition Transcript, 23: 10-18, 21-25; 24: 1-3.)

To clear any confusion contained in her deposition exchange with

Haley, Ms. Hume testified as follows:

A: No. It was my intention to give a better property.

Q: I just want to be clear. With respect to this easement that was for your property, when the change in the use that was done between you and Mr. Pugh, was it basically your understanding that you were giving up any right to cross or pedestrian traffic or vehicular traffic along that previous easement?

Mr. Haley: Objection, mischaracterizes the testimony and ambiguous.

A: Yes.

Q: And the fact is this easement was basically changed into a stream, correct?

A: Yes.

Q: At any time after this change in the easement was made, did you ever utilize that area to walk through it?

A: No.

Q: Did you utilize that area ever to drive through it?

A: No.

Q: Did any of the lot owners of C or D ever use that area to either walk or drive their vehicles?

A: No.

(CP 402, Hume Deposition Transcript, 39: 22-25; 40: 1-17.)

Despite efforts to show otherwise, Ms. Hume's testimony read as a whole is clear, consistent, unequivocal and uncontroverted.

V. CONCLUSION

The evidence presented in the present action leads to only one reasonable conclusion. The trial court correctly limited the easement on summary judgment. The Court of Appeals properly affirmed the trial court decision. Haley's Petition for Review should be denied.